THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Thirteenth Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JAN 09 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2017-001609

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent

v.

Matthew Steven Pillon,

Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Counsel for Respondent:

Honorable Alan Wilson
J. Benjamin Aplin
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211

Doug Richardson, Assistant Solicitor
Brandi Hinton, Assistant Solicitor
Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
214 E Main St # B220
Pickens, SC 29671

Harold P. Welborn, Clerk of Court
PO Box 215
Pickens, SC 29671-0215

Counsel for Appellant:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT WHEN THE STATE DID NOT PRODUCE ANY DIRECT OR SUBSTANTIAL CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S GUILT?

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER HIS SENTENCE WHERE APPELLANT RECEIVED FOURTEEN (14) YEARS AND HIS CO-DEFENDANT RECEIVED FIVE (5) YEARS?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 7, 2013, Emergency Medical Services (EMS) were called to a mobile home in Pickens County. There, they found an injured child along with the child's mother, Angel Marie Atkins, Appellant, Matthew Steven Pillon, and other members of Ms. Atkins's family. Appellant was Ms. Atkins's boyfriend at the time but not the biological father of the child, and he lived in a back room of the Atkins family's mobile home with Ms. Atkins and her child. EMS transported the child to the hospital and alerted police of the child's injuries.

On September 24, 2013, Appellant and Ms. Atkins were indicted with unlawful neglect of a child and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. On August 23, 2016, the State added the charge of child abuse with great bodily injury. Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell in Pickens County from August 29-31, 2016. Ms. Atkins failed to appear for trial. The jury found Appellant guilty of all three charges. Appellant received ten (10) years for the assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature charge, ten (10) years for the unlawful neglect of a child charge, and fourteen (14) years for the child abuse with great bodily harm. All sentences were to run concurrently. Ms. Atkins was later apprehended and pled guilty to unlawful neglect of a child before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin on May 25, 2017. The State dropped her other charges in exchange for the plea. She received a five (5) year sentence. Appellant timely amended his motion for reconsideration of his sentence in light of Ms. Atkins's sentence, which the trial court denied on June 15, 2017. (ROA, pg. 388-389). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When the State fails to produce any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that a defendant committed a particular crime, the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict. *State v. Rothschild*, 351 S.C. 238, 243, 569 S.E.2d 346, 348 (2002). “When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, an appellate court views evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State,” *State v. Lee-Grigg*, 374 S.C. 388, 399, 649 S.E.2d 41, 47 (Ct. App. 2007), and a case is properly submitted to the jury if there is “any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.” *State v. Mitchell*, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000) (citing *State v. Edwards*, 298 S.C. 272, 379 S.E.2d 888 (1989)). However, when the State’s evidence merely raises a suspicion of a defendant’s guilt, the trial court should grant a directed verdict in the defendant’s favor. *Lee-Grigg* at 418, 649 S.E.2d at 57. “Suspicion” is defined as “a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” *Id.* An appellate court may reverse the trial court’s denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence to support the court’s ruling. *Id.*

“[T]he authority to change a sentence rests solely and exclusively in the hands of the sentencing judge within the exercise of his discretion.” *State v. Smith*, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981). “On appeal, the trial court’s ruling will not be disturbed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” *State v. Sheldon*, 344 S.C. 340, 342, 543 S.E.2d 585, 585-586 (Ct. App. 2001). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual

conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000).

The appellate court’s task is to determine whether the trial court abused its discretion. *State v. Reed*, 332 S.C. 35, 503 S.E.2d 747 (1998). Sound judicial discretion must be exercised in every case with a thorough regard for what is just and proper under the circumstances. *State v. Scates*, 212 S.C. 150, 156, 46 S.E.2d 693, 695 (1948). “The reasonableness of any given sentence will largely depend upon the specific facts of each case and the district court’s consideration and application of the § 3553(a) factors to those facts.” *U.S. v. Hampton*, 441 F.3d 284, 287 (4th Cir. 2006) (referring to sentencing factors outlined in 18 U.S.C.A. § 3553(a) (2012)).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT WHEN THE STATE DID NOT PRODUCE ANY DIRECT OR SUBSTANTIAL CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S GUILT.

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict motion when the State fails to produce any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence proving guilt, *Rothschild* at 243, 569 S.E.2d at 348, and when the State's evidence merely shows a defendant's behavior to be suspicious, *Lee-Grigg* at 418, 649 S.E.2d at 57. Here, the State produced no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant harmed the child, and its other evidence, such as it was, merely shows Appellant's behavior as suspicious at best. Denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict under these circumstances was a fundamental miscarriage of justice.

Although the State sufficiently proved that the child was injured in this case, there was no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant ever did anything wrong. At trial, no direct evidence was presented at all. Significantly, none of the State's witnesses ever testified that Appellant harmed the child or even came close to harming the child. Even assuming the State's best circumstantial evidence to be true for the purposes of argument, the State's proof amounted to the fact that Appellant lived in a back room of the mobile home with Ms. Atkins and the child (ROA, pg. line 16- pg. 90, line 6); Appellant tried to help Ms. Atkins take care of her son (ROA, pg. 94, lines 11 –18); Appellant was frustrated that he could not calm the child around 10:30 PM on the night of June 6, 2017 (ROA, pg. 94, line 16 – pg. 95, line 19) and; the child was injured at some point during the night of June 6, 2013 while Appellant was in the room sleeping. These facts by themselves are insubstantial evidence because they only go to show that Appellant was nearby when

this incident occurred, not that he was a willing actor as both assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) and child abuse with great bodily injury require. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600; S.C. Code Ann. § 65-3-70. To survive a directed verdict motion for both ABHAN and child abuse with great bodily injury, the State must show that Appellant caused some direct act of violence on the child. None of the State's witnesses' testimony comes close to establishing that Appellant harmed the child, and the other facts listed above are insufficient to prove Appellant committed any act of violence. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600; S.C. Code Ann. § 65-3-70.

Not only did the State fail to produce any circumstantial evidence showing that Appellant had ever harmed the child or had a propensity to be abusive, the majority of the evidence pointed to the contrary. Even though Appellant was not the biological father of the child, he adopted the child as his own, moved in with Ms. Atkins to help her during her pregnancy at the cost of his job (ROA, pg. 259, lines 4 – 20), and went to every medical appointment for the child (ROA, pg. 264, lines 8 – 17). Appellant was greatly concerned about the child's welfare especially when the child was coughing up blood and mucus during the days leading up to the incident. (ROA, pg. 285, line 5 – pg. 287, line 1). Appellant constantly called his mother during the six days prior to the incident asking her advice on how he should properly care for the child. (ROA, pg. 338, line 12 – pg. 339, line 20). Appellant said he was "freaking out" because of the child's condition and cried during his conversations with his mother because he felt so helpless watching the child struggle. (ROA, pg. 285, lines 15 – 25). Contrary to the State's assertions that Appellant did not care about the child, these facts demonstrate that Appellant cared deeply about the child and diligently looked out for the child's best interests.

Even assuming the truthfulness of the State's best evidence, the testimony of Ms. Tammy Atkins, Ms. Angel Atkins's mother, that Appellant made statements in frustration towards herself, Angel, and the child at 10:30 PM, this testimony does not establish that Appellant harmed the child later on the morning of June 7, 2013. At best, this testimony merely raises a suspicion of Appellant's further conduct the night of June 6, 2013. Appellant testified that he was asleep from 5:30 AM to 10:00 AM the morning of June 7, 2013. Appellant had never taken oxycodone before and was "knocked out" from the time he helped Ms. Atkins calm the crying child down around 5:30 AM until Ms. Atkins awakened him at 10:00 AM to take the child to the hospital. (ROA, pg. 292, line 6 – pg. 293, line 10). During the four-and-a-half-hour interval Appellant was unconscious, Ms. Atkins was in sole custody of the child.

Significantly, Ms. Atkins fled rather than standing trial, indicating that she had some measure of a guilty conscience. By contrast, Appellant cooperated with the authorities, stood trial, and steadfastly asserted his innocence. The State proved the child was injured but failed to raise more than a suspicion of Appellant's actions. No witness testified that Appellant did anything wrong or ever came close to harming the child. Additionally, no other facts indicated Appellant caused those injuries as opposed to Ms. Atkins. Due to the State's failure to present any evidence that Appellant harmed the child and the strong evidence that Appellant cared deeply for the child and had no inclination to harm him, the trial court's denial of Appellant's motion for a directed verdict results a fundamental miscarriage of justice.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER APPELLANT'S SENTENCE WHERE APPELLANT RECEIVED FOURTEEN (14) YEARS AND HIS CO-DEFENDANT RECEIVED FIVE (5) YEARS.

Although the court is not required to recognize federal law, 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) lists the factors that should be considered when imposing a sentence. According to § 3553(a)(6), the court shall consider “the need to avoid unwarranted sentence disparities among defendants with similar records who have been found guilty of similar conduct” when determining the sentence to be imposed. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(6) (2012). The Sentencing Guidelines for the United States Courts state that the court shall “consider the applicable factors in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) taken as a whole” when determining the application of the Sentencing Guidelines. 18 U.S.C.S. § 1B1.1(c).

When enacting the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984 Congress sought to obtain “reasonable uniformity in sentencing by narrowing the wide disparity in sentences imposed for similar criminal offenses committed by similar offenders. U.S.S.G., Ch. ONE, Pt. A, Subpt. 1(3), 18 U.S.C. The government has a strong interest in reducing sentence disparities to ensure an even-handed administration of justice, and this interest should be reflected in state criminal proceedings as well.

Here, a cursory comparison of Appellant's sentence with that of his would-be co-defendant Ms. Atkins reveals that there is a wide disparity between the sentences. The charges were identical and related to the same behavior and events. Appellant received concurrent sentences of ten (10) years for the assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature charge, ten (10) years for the unlawful neglect of a child charge, and fourteen (14) years for the child abuse with great bodily harm. (See Matthew Steven Pillon Sentencing Sheets). By contrast, Ms. Atkins received five (5) years for pleading guilty to unlawful

neglect of a child and the State dropped her other charges. (ROA, pg. 397-399). The inequity of this result is further shown when Appellant submitted himself willingly to the judicial system and complied with the entire process without any incidents while Ms. Atkins absconded from the trial and had to be apprehended by law enforcement.

The State may seek to argue that Ms. Atkins took a plea deal and thus cannot be compared to Appellant, but this argument is without merit. The charges were identical; the circumstances and behavior were the same. The only difference between the Appellant and Ms. Atkins is that Appellant respected the law and stood trial while Ms. Atkins fled. Ms. Atkins should not be rewarded for fleeing by receiving a sentence almost three times lower than Appellant's nor should Appellant be punished for going to trial. Though doubtless unintentional, by refusing to reconsider Appellant's sentence, the trial court erred by rewarding one defendant's bad behavior while punishing Appellant for standing trial. This disparity results in a fundamental miscarriage of justice. Thus, the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to reconsider Appellant's sentence.

CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict since the State failed to produce any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that did not merely raise a suspicion. Additionally, the court erred in refusing to reconsider Appellant's sentence since Appellant's co-defendant, Ms. Atkins, received a substantially lower sentence even after her bad behavior. As a result, the rulings of the trial court should be reversed.