**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-001609

---

RECEIVED  
JAN 16 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW STEVEN PILLON,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III.  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the evidence and testimony presented during trial, when viewed in a light most favorable to the State, could induce a reasonable juror to find Appellant guilty of the charged offenses.**

#### Relevant Facts

At the conclusion of the State's case, Appellant moved for a directed verdict. R. p. 251. Appellant contended that while the State proved Victim was harmed, there was no evidence presented establishing Appellant was involved. R. p. 251. The trial judge ruled:

It's incumbent upon the Court in a motion for directed verdict to view the motion in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. The Court must determine not what - - the weight of the evidence, the sufficiency of the evidence, but if there is any evidence which would support the State's case upon which the jury could decide they have met their burden of proof. R. p. 253. Under that standard of any evidence, I do find that there is at the very least circumstantial evidence of which - - upon which the jury could determine the State has met its burden of proof. Therefore I respectfully deny your motion for directed verdict.

R. p. 253.

#### Discussion

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict because the State failed to produce any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant's guilt. While he acknowledges Victim was injured while in the room with Appellant and Angel Atkins, Appellant contends there was insufficient proof that Appellant was the willing actor who harmed Victim. Appellant essentially asks this Court to weigh the evidence presented during the defense's case in chief which alleged Appellant cared for Victim greatly in order to conclude that Atkins, rather than Appellant, was the individual responsible for Victim's injuries. To the contrary, the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence demonstrating Victim

was in the exclusive custody of Appellant and Angel Atkins on the evening he was injured; Appellant had an angry outburst and screamed at Victim; when Victim first emerged from Appellant and Angel Atkins's locked bedroom, Victim was critically injured; Appellant actively attempted to prevent anyone from calling 911; in the hours following Victim's admission to the hospital, Appellant's behavior was not consistent with one concerned with his child and he gave demonstrably false versions of events of Victim was injured. This Court should affirm the trial judge's ruling because the evidence and testimony presented during Appellant's trial was sufficient to establish his guilt for all elements of the charged offenses.

When considering a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 53, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002). The task of the trial court is to simply determine "whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 781 S.E.2d 352 (2016). The United States Supreme Court has noted:

[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, **and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.**

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979) (second emphasis added) *quoted with approval in* State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 471 n.2, 783 S.E.2d 802, 806 n.2 (2016).

If there is **any** direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge's ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). The appellate court may only reverse the trial judge's denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the

trial judge's ruling. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). “[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge’s ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986); see also Crawford v. United States, 375 F.2d 332, 334 (D.C. Cir. 1967) (“It is not the function of appellate judges to weigh the evidence and decide that if they had doubts other reasonable persons were compelled to have the same doubts. If that were the test the jury of twelve would be relegated to the very low grade function of secondary fact finders.”).

In Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 781 S.E.2d 352, the South Carolina Supreme Court considered a case where the State contended this Court erred in reversing the trial judge’s denial of directed verdict by weighing the evidence and considering alternative hypotheses. In examining the decision of this Court, the Supreme Court concluded this Court erroneously weighed the evidence and reversed Bennett’s conviction based on its belief that there was a plausible alternative theory inconsistent with Bennett’s guilt. Id. at 236. The Supreme Court clarified that analysis was, “contrary to our jurisprudence and misapprehends the court’s role in making this determination.” Id. In reversing this Court, the Supreme Court concluded that, in examining the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence, “could induce a reasonable juror to find Bennett guilty.” Id. at 237.

In the current case, Appellant points out perceived weaknesses in the State’s case and urges this Court to consider his alternative hypotheses that Angel Atkins was the one who actually harmed Victim in order to find the State’s evidence insufficient. However, as discussed in Bennett, there is no requirement that the State present evidence sufficient to exclude every

other hypotheses of Appellant's guilt. The evidence presented at Appellant's trial was sufficient to induce a reasonable juror to find Appellant guilty.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the following substantial circumstantial evidence establishing Appellant's guilt was presented:

1. Victim was examined by Dr. Cliff Caldwell on June 6, 2013. This examination yielded normal results and Dr. Caldwell did not observe any bruising, nor did he observe any blood coming from Victim's nose or mouth.
2. On the morning of June 7, 2013, Pickens County EMS was called to the home shared by Appellant, Angel Atkins, and her family. Else Morgan of Pickens County EMS observed multiple bruises and lacerations on Victim's face and body.
3. Further medical examination of Victim revealed bruises on his cheeks, head, torso, arms, and legs, as well as scratches around Victim's face, scrotum, penis, and anus. Victim also suffered a deep pharyngeal injury. Medical professionals concluded these injuries were the result of non-accidental trauma.
4. Victim was in the exclusive custody of Appellant and Angel Atkins on the evening of June 6th through the morning of June 7th. Tammy Atkins, Angel Atkins's mother, testified Appellant and Angel kept their bedroom locked at all times and no one was allowed in the room. Tammy Atkins recalled that on the evening of June 6th Victim screamed and cried through the night and she heard Appellant yell at Victim and call him a "little bastard" and told him to "shut the F up."
5. The next morning, Appellant attempted to prevent anyone from calling 911 because Victim "was his child and he was not letting them come out."
6. While at the hospital, Appellant did not seem concerned with his child's welfare and only concerned himself on when he could leave and whether he was in any trouble.
7. Appellant offered a variety of strange and medically impossible explanations for Victim's injuries. Appellant initially claimed Victim fell off the bed and he performed CPR on him. Appellant later told authorities Victim's bruises were from medical visits during prior stays and the scratches were from victim scratching himself. Both of these theories were conclusively disproved by medical testimony.

Viewing all of this evidence together with the natural and logical inferences to be drawn from it, the jury could rationally conclude Appellant was guilty of each element of the indicted offenses. The theory of guilt presented by the State's evidence could induce a reasonable juror to conclude that Appellant and Atkins harmed Victim while he was in their locked bedroom because he would not stop crying. While Appellant alleges there was no evidence that he, rather than Atkins, harmed Victim, this assertion ignores the evidence presented by Tammy Atkins

establishing Appellant was yelling at Victim and he was actively the individual actively concealing from law enforcement the true nature of what happened in his locked bedroom on the evening of June 6th. The aforementioned evidence represents significant circumstantial evidence showing Appellant and Angel Atkins's guilt for the charged offenses. Contrary to what is required before a directed verdict should be granted, Appellant's case did not present a complete failure of evidence of his guilt. See State v. Brown, 205 S.C. 514, 520, 32 S.E.2d 825, 827 (1945) ("Where there is any evidence, however slight, on which the jury may justifiably find the existence or the non-existence of material facts in issue, or if the evidence is of such character that different conclusions as to such facts reasonably may be drawn therefrom, the issues should be submitted to the jury."). Instead, considerable evidence of Appellant's guilt for each of the indicted offenses was presented and his motion for a directed verdict was properly denied. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

## II.

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to reconsider his sentence where the sentence fell within the permissible statutory limits and Appellant failed to provide evidence that partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive factored into the sentence.**

### **Relevant Facts**

On September 6, 2016, Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration of sentence. R. p. 390. In his motion, Appellant alleged the penalty imposed was unnecessarily severe under the circumstances. R. p. 390. Appellant subsequently made an amended motion for reconsideration of sentence on June 1, 2017. R. p. 388-389. In his amended motion, Appellant argued that his sentence was disproportionate compared to the sentence received by his co-defendant, Angel Atkins. R. p. 388-389. Atkins pled guilty to unlawful neglect of a child and received a sentence of five years' imprisonment. R. p. 397-399. Appellant alleged it was inequitable that Appellant

received a higher sentence than Atkins because Victim was in their joint custody when he was harmed. R. p. 388-389. The trial judge subsequently denied Appellant's motion. R. p. 1.

### **Discussion**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in denying his motion to consider his sentence. Specifically, Appellant contends the disparity between his sentence and that of Angel Atkins was too significant, as Appellant was sentenced to an aggregate of fourteen years imprisonment after being found guilty of child abuse with great bodily injury, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and unlawful neglect of a child, while Atkins was sentenced to five years after pleading guilty only to unlawful neglect of a child. Appellant avers his sentence is tantamount to a punishment for exercising his right to a jury trial. These arguments lack merit. Initially, Appellant's issue should not be reviewed by this Court because Appellant failed to allege his sentence was the result of partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive. Furthermore, the trial judge's decision to sentence Appellant to a greater term of years was warranted where Appellant was found guilty of three offenses, while Atkins pled guilty to only one offense. The facts and circumstances of the case also support the proposition that Appellant was the primary aggressor.

The trial judge has broad discretion in imposing a sentence within the statutory limits. State v. Sidell, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974). "A judge or other sentencing authority is to be accorded very wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence, and must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed." State v. Hicks, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008). Generally, appellate courts will only interfere with the discretion of a judge in the imposition of a sentence in rare and unusual circumstances. State

v. Ferguson, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952). “Absent partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive, [the appellate court] lacks jurisdiction to disturb a sentence that is within the limits prescribed by statute.” State v. Barton, 325 S.C. 522, 531, 481 S.E.2d 439, 444 (Ct. App. 1997).

The mere fact a defendant receives a sentence disparate to the sentences received by his accomplices for the same offense does not automatically render the defendant’s sentence an abuse of the trial judge’s discretion. See State v. Fleming, 228 S.C. 129, 133–34, 89 S.E.2d 104, 106 (1955) (“In this question, appellants complain of the sentence in that their accomplice received a sentence of 18 months while they received a sentence of 10 years. This Court has no jurisdiction on appeal to correct a sentence alleged to be excessive when it is within the limits prescribed by law in the discretion of the trial judge and is not the result of partiality, prejudice, oppressive or corrupt motive.”). A sentencing judge can properly consider the relative degree of participation of different co-defendants in a single incident along with any other relevant factors before issuing differing sentences appropriate for each individual defendant. See State v. Dozier, 263 S.C. 267, 271–72, 210 S.E.2d 225, 226 (1974) (finding no abuse of discretion in the trial judge’s issuance of a greater sentence to Dozier than to his co-defendants for the same offenses where the trial judge concluded Dozier’s co-defendants “were not tainted with the same degree of guilt” as Dozier). “[W]hen the record clearly reflects an appropriate basis for a disparate sentence, the sentencing judge may impose a different sentence on a co-defendant in a criminal trial.” State v. Follin, 352 S.C. 235, 257, 573 S.E.2d 812, 824 (Ct. App. 2003).

Initially, this issue should not be reviewed by this Court because Appellant failed to allege his sentence is the result of prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive from the trial judge. In his initial motion for reconsideration of sentence, Appellant made the bare assertion the

penalty imposed was unnecessarily severe. In his amended motion for reconsideration of sentence, Appellant contended it was simply inequitable he received a higher sentence than Atkins. Similarly, in his Brief of Appellant, Appellant avers there is a wide disparity in the sentences resulting in an inequitable result that essentially rewards Atkins for pleading guilty and punishing Appellant for going to trial. None of these allegations are tantamount to a contention that the trial judge sentenced Appellant to a greater term of years as a result of prejudice, oppression, or a corrupt motive on his part. Thus, there is no justifiable basis for this Court to review the merits of Appellant's claim. See State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976) (“[T]his Court has no jurisdiction to review a sentence, provided it is within the limits provided by statute for the discretion of the [plea] court, and is not the result of prejudice, oppression[,] or corrupt motive.”).

Jurisdictional concerns notwithstanding, the trial judge's decision to deny Appellant's motion for reconsideration of sentence was warranted under the facts and circumstances of this case. Appellant was found guilty of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, unlawful neglect of a child, and child abuse with great bodily injury. Distinguishably, Atkins pled guilty only to unlawful neglect of a child. It seems elementary that a higher sentence is warranted for a defendant found guilty of three offenses than a defendant who acknowledged her own guilt for one offense. While Appellant asserts Atkins was “rewarded for fleeing by received a sentence almost three times lower than Appellant not should Appellant be punished for going to trial,” Atkins was not rewarded for fleeing, nor was Appellant punished for going to trial. Instead, Atkins received the benefit of bargaining with the State in exchange for solemnly acknowledging her own guilt. It is essential to the functioning of our judicial system that one may seek preferential sentencing in exchange for an acknowledgement of guilt. See Brooks v. Estelle, 697

F.2d 586, 588 (5th Cir. 1982) (“It is well-settled that the State may favor with clemency a person who confesses his guilt.”). Furthermore, the facts and circumstances of the case indicate Appellant had a higher degree of culpability than Atkins. Evidence presented at trial established that on the evening Victim sustained significant injuries, Appellant was overheard yelling at Victim and calling him a number of obscene names. Evidence was also presented establishing Appellant actively attempted to thwart attempts to obtain emergency medical attention for Victim, and Appellant did not express any concern for Victim whatsoever while at the hospital. This leads to the natural conclusion that Appellant’s role in the brutal beating of Victim was greater than that of Atkins. The trial judge therefore did not err in denying Appellant’s motion for reconsideration of sentence. Appellant’s convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.